NO. 337189 COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

VERDA CROSSWHITE

Appellant

٧.

DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES

Respondent

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Elizabeth Tutsch WSBA #27301 Co-Counsel for Appellant

Northwest Justice Project 311 N. 4th Street, Suite 201 Yakima, WA 98901 (509) 574-4234 Jacquelyn High-Edward WSBA #37065 Co-Counsel for Appellant

Northwest Justice Project 1702 W. Broadway Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 324-9128

I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant, Verda Lee Crosswhite, is a kind and generous caregiver. She is naturally open and deeply concerned about the best interests of her clients. This appeal asks whether her concern about the health and well-being of a person, expressed loudly and in a public place, meets the statutory definition of mental abuse. The Department of Social and Health Services (the Department or DSHS) found that Ms. Crosswhite mentally abused her client, through a single verbal expression of concern about the client's health, absent any intent to injure or actual injury. This finding resulted in Ms. Crosswhite being barred from working as a paid caregiver, a job she has done without incident for more than 25 years.

The issue in this appeal is whether the Department acted outside its statutory authority and erroneously interpreted and applied the statutory definition of mental abuse to require no more than a purposeful, improper action that caused a negative outcome when the statutory standard requires both an intent to cause injury and a showing of injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or

¹ The statutory definition of mental abuse changed in 2015. This case examines whether Ms. Crosswhite's actions constitute mental abuse under the statue in effect in 2013 (attached in Appendix).

punishment. In addition, the whole record before the court in this case, when viewed in its entirety, does not contain substantial evidence to support the Board of Appeals (BOA) Review Judge's findings and conclusions that Ms. Crosswhite mentally abused her client.

Ms. Crosswhite asks this Court to reverse the BOA order pursuant to RCW 34.05.570(3) for these reasons. Ms. Crosswhite also requests that this court award attorney fees and costs under RCW 4.84.350 and RAP 18.1.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The order is outside the Department's statutory authority where it impermissibly expands the statutory definition of mental abuse. (BOA Review Decision and Final Order Conclusions of Law 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17).
- B. The Department erroneously interpreted and applied the definition of mental abuse. (BOA Review Decision and Final Order Conclusions of Law 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 16, 17).
- C. The record does not contain substantial evidence to support the finding that Ms. Crosswhite's conduct met the statutory definition of mental abuse. (BOA Review Decision and Final

Order, Conclusions of Law Nos. 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 16,17; Findings of Fact Nos. 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 14, 16).

D. Ms. Crosswhite is entitled to attorney fees and costs pursuant to RCW 4.84.350 and RAP 18.1.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Crosswhite worked as an in-home Medicaid caregiver for over 25 years. CP 81. She cared for very ill elderly people in their homes. assisting with medication management, housekeeping, personal hygiene and companionship. CP 81. Her former clients and their families were happy with her services. CP 179, 182, 192. They found her to be responsible, detail-oriented and committed to the wellbeing of her clients. CP 190. appreciated that Ms. Crosswhite was aware of her clients' health concerns and proactive in addressing them. CP 183, 192. The DSHS case manager who worked with her was similarly impressed, and found Ms. Crosswhite to be a part of an elite group of caregivers who go over and beyond for their clients. CP 136-137.

Ms. Crosswhite worked for Jodi for six to eight weeks in the summer of 2013. CP 97. Unlike Ms. Crosswhite's other clients, who were quite elderly, Jodi was Ms. Crosswhite's age. CP 94.

Jodi suffered from diabetes, obesity, psychological problems and arthritis. CP 68, 213. Jodi needed a wheelchair when she left the house as well as assistance with transportation, medication management, housekeeping and personal hygiene. CP 68, 140. When Jodi interviewed Ms. Crosswhite, Jodi told Ms. Crosswhite that she wanted to take better care of her health so that she could feel better and be more active. CP 94. Ms. Crosswhite enthusiastically committed to helping Jodi meet her goals. CP 143.

During her interview with Jodi, Ms. Crosswhite noticed that Jodi's home was unkempt and needed sprucing up. CP 141. On her own time and initiative, Ms. Crosswhite arranged for professional carpet cleaning, painting the interior of Jodi's home and substantial yard work, all at no cost to Jodi. CP 142-143. Ms. Crosswhite also used her own money to purchase clothes to make Jodi feel more attractive, and improved grocery shopping and menus to encourage diabetes management and weight loss. CP 144-145. Ms. Crosswhite was hopeful that all of these improvements would help Jodi feel better and want to take better care of herself. CP 143.

Ms. Crosswhite became increasingly concerned about the amount of medication Jodi was taking, especially narcotic pain

medication. CP 92, 147. She became so concerned that on two occasions, Ms. Crosswhite talked to the medical assistant at Jodi's medical clinic, Guillermina Gonzalez. CP 121. Ms. Gonzalez felt that Ms. Crosswhite's intervention was "valuable" information for Jodi's doctor, and that Ms. Crosswhite had Jodi's best interest in mind when she reported her concerns. CP 123.

Despite Ms. Crosswhite's efforts, Jodi's health did not improve. She seldom left her bed because she frequently dosed herself with pain medication that left her lethargic. CP 146. Jodi continued to have dangerous blood sugar levels. One morning, Jodi's blood sugar was so low that Ms. Crosswhite had to run to the store to buy orange juice. CP 85. Jodi then directed Ms. Crosswhite to mix sugar in the juice in an effort to get her blood sugar increased. CP 85. This event scared Ms. Crosswhite, and she feared that she would arrive to work one day to find Jodi in a diabetic coma, or dead. CP 85.

As she had done with her previous clients, Ms. Crosswhite not only transported Jodi to her doctor appointments, but also accompanied Jodi into the examination room. CP 84. Jodi became uncomfortable with this arrangement but did not raise her concerns directly with Ms. Crosswhite. CP 68, 93. Instead, Jodi called her

DSHS case manager who suggested that Jodi simply ask Ms. Crosswhite to wait in the lobby. CP 68, 131. There is no evidence that the DSHS case manager ever raised these issues with Ms. Crosswhite. CP 67-74, 99-115.

At a medical appointment on August 1, 2013, Jodi asked Ms. Crosswhite to stay in the lobby. CP 68. Ms. Crosswhite abided by Jodi's request and settled in the waiting room. CP 84. When the appointment was over, Ms. Crosswhite rejoined Jodi at the reception desk to schedule the next appointment. CP 67. Ms. Crosswhite asked Jodi whether she told her doctor about the junk food she kept on her window sill in her bedroom. CP 84. When Jodi answered in the negative and began to cry, Ms. Crosswhite became upset and said that she was tired of being the only one to care for her health and felt like leaving her there. CP 84, 86, 119.

Guillermina Gonzalez, the medical assistant, told Ms. Crosswhite that she was being inappropriate, and Ms. Crosswhite said no more. CP 67, 119. She wheeled Jodi outside and waited while Jodi smoked a couple of cigarettes. CP 95. Jodi was upset, and Ms. Crosswhite tried to calm Jodi down. CP 69. Ms. Crosswhite told Jodi that she cared about Jodi and her health. CP 69, 86.

Ms. Crosswhite and Jodi sat outside the doctor's office for about 20 more minutes while Jodi smoked. CP 95. Ms. Gonzalez and another medical assistant, Melanie Probasco, came out to check on Jodi as it was a hot day. CP 105. When Ms. Gonzalez approached them, Ms. Crosswhite looked at her and said "oh, Jodi is just having a cigarette" in a nice voice. CP 70. Jodi was crying, but she told Ms. Gonzalez that she was okay. CP 69.

When Jodi finished her cigarettes, Ms. Crosswhite took her home. CP 69. The medical visit upset both women. CP 68. Ms. Crosswhite called the DSHS case manager and began to cry while recounting the incident. CP 68. She told the case manager that she was upset that Jodi was not telling her doctor the truth about her self-care and eating habits, and that her health was in danger. CP 68.

Jodi also called the DSHS case manager upset and tearful, and described what had happened in the medical clinic. CP 68. Jodi wanted to terminate Ms. Crosswhite, but after discussing it with her case manager, she decided to think it over for a few days. CP 69.

The next day, on August 2, 2013, Jodi had another medical appointment to review her pain medication at the pain clinic.

CP 89. This time, Jodi invited Ms. Crosswhite to accompany her into the examination room. CP 89. Jodi became angry when Ms. Crosswhite disagreed with Jodi's representation of how active she had been. CP 69. Ms. Crosswhite believed that Jodi was angry because she thought her pain medication would be reduced. CP 90.

Ms. Crosswhite continued working for Jodi until August 7, 2013. CP 155-156. During this period things went back to normal, and Jodi got out of bed and visited with Ms. Crosswhite over coffee. CP 156. It was a typical work week. CP 156.

On August 7, 2013, when Ms. Crosswhite reported for work, Jodi was still sleeping. CP 72. Ms. Crosswhite was concerned and asked Jodi's husband why Jodi was still asleep in an effort to determine if there was a logical explanation for Jodi sleeping so late. CP 72. Jodi heard Ms. Crosswhite talking to her husband and became upset. CP 69, 72.

After finishing her shift, Ms. Crosswhite received a voicemail from Jodi telling her that she was fired. CP 156. She told Ms. Crosswhite, "I will ruin you." CP 191. Ms. Crosswhite believed Jodi was upset that her prescription pain medication could be at risk of reduction. CP 155.

The DSHS case manager referred the matter to Adult Protective Services (APS). CP 110. APS conducted an investigation, and spoke with Jodi, Ms. Crosswhite, the DSHS case manager and three staff members from the medical clinic, Ms. Gonzalez, Ms. Probasco and Debra Madill. CP 101.

Jodi told the APS investigator that Ms. Crosswhite's actions in the two medical clinics upset her greatly and that an abusive past made it harder for her to deal with it. CP 69. She stated that her husband could not understand why she was so upset, and told her to "forget about it." CP 69. In regard to the August 1, 2013, incident, Jodi reported that after they left the doctor's office, Ms. Crosswhite tried to calm her down, said that she cared about Jodi and was worried about her health and poor eating habits. CP 69. Jodi stated that the medical staff came out to the parking lot to check on her and she told them that she was okay. CP 69.

The APS investigator spoke to two of the medical clinic staff, Ms. Gonzalez and Ms. Probasco, about the August 1, 2013, incident. CP 101. Ms. Gonzalez and Ms. Probasco stated that they checked on Jodi when she was in the parking lot because it was a hot day, and Jodi and Ms. Crosswhite had been sitting there for a while. CP 70. They reported that when they checked on Ms.

Crosswhite and Jodi that Ms. Crosswhite spoke to them in a nice voice. CP 70. Neither reported any yelling by Ms. Crosswhite while she was in the parking lot, and neither reported the incident to APS. CP 70, 110.

Ms. Madill provided a written declaration to APS that contained a similar account of the incident in the medical clinic, and stated that she asked Ms. Gonzalez to check on Jodi in the parking lot because she had been sitting out there for a long time. CP 74.

The APS investigator concluded that Ms. Crosswhite's actions in the medical clinic on August 1, 2013, amounted to mental abuse based on that single incident. CP 60-61. Ms. Crosswhite appealed. CP 65.

At the hearing, Ms. Madill testified that she observed Ms. Crosswhite yelling at Jodi through the window after they left the medical clinic. CP 126. Specifically she stated "they went out to the car, and I noticed they were still out there. She was really yelling at the patient." CP 126. However, on cross examination, Ms. Madill admitted that she could not tell what was being said when Ms. Crosswhite and Jodi were in the parking lot. CP 128. Ms. Gonzalez testified that she did not know what was being said in the parking lot. CP 120. She further stated that she asked "Verda"

[Crosswhite] if everything was okay or if they needed anything else.

And she [Ms. Crosswhite] said "no" we're just having a conversation " CP 120.

The Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) found that the Department had failed to produce substantial evidence that Ms. Crosswhite's actions met the statutory definition of mental abuse. CP 41. The ALJ found that Ms. Crosswhite's actions were not intended to inflict injury but rather were in response to her frustration at Jodi's lack of truthfulness with her doctor and the consequences. CP 41. The ALJ found that "the Department failed to establish . . . that the Appellant's actions were done in a willful manner intended to harm, injure, or cause negative outcome to Jodi." CP 41. The ALJ concluded that "the action itself is not sufficient to meet the definition of abuse but rather the action must be intended to cause injury." CP 41.

The Department appealed, and the BOA Review Judge reversed. CP 14. Ms. Crosswhite petitioned for judicial review, and the Yakima Superior Court upheld the BOA Order. CP 211. Ms. Crosswhite timely appealed.

IV. ARGUMENT

Under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), an individual who is substantially prejudiced by a state agency adjudicative order may seek judicial review and relief from the order. RCW 34.05.570(3). The reviewing court may set aside the agency's final adjudicative order based on a determination that the order: (1) is outside the agency's statutory authority; (2) erroneously interpreted or applied the law; and (3) is not supported by substantial evidence. RCW 34.05.570(3).

Ms. Crosswhite substantially prejudiced is the Department's finding of mental abuse against her because it prohibits her from working or volunteering in her customary and preferred employment caring for the elderly and ill. Ryan v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 171 Wn. App. 454, 632, 287 P.3d 629 (2013); WAC 388-70-01280. People with APS findings are listed on a publicly-available registry. ld. The findings are reported on background checks and there is no mechanism available to have the finding removed from the registry. WAC 388-71-01275(4). Thus, individuals with an APS finding are stigmatized as abusers and permanently barred from any work position that may involve unsupervised access to children or vulnerable adults. Ryan, 171

Wn. App. at 632. Registry listing, and the consequent disqualification from employment, is automatic, irrefutable, and permanent. *Ryan*, 171 Wn. App. at 632; WAC 388-71-01275(4).

The devastating and permanent effects of a finding of mental abuse demands that the statutory definition be strictly construed, narrowly applied only to those instances in which it is warranted, and based on the harm caused and not on the subjective response. The BOA's finding, contrary to the decision of the ALJ, that Ms. Crosswhite committed mental abuse of her client, is inconsistent with the statutory definition and must be reversed.

THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS DE NOVO.

An appellate court applies the standards in RCW 34.05.570 "directly to the record before the agency, sitting in the same position as the superior court." *Utter v. State, Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv.*, 140 Wn. App. 293, 299, 165 P.3d 399 (2007), quoting *City of Redmond v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 136 Wn.2d 38, 45, 959 P.2d 1091 (1998). Questions of statutory or regulatory interpretation are reviewed *de novo. Tesoro Ref. & Mktg Co. v Dep't of Revenue*, 164 Wn.2d 310, 322, 190 P.3d 28 (2008). While the facts underlying the finding must be supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the

record as a whole, the legal finding of mental abuse in this case is also reviewed *de novo. Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd.*, 151 Wn.2d 568, 589, 90 P.3d 659 (2014).

B. THE ORDER IS OUTSIDE THE DEPARTMENT'S AUTHORITY WHERE IT IMPERMISSIBLY EXPANDED THE STATUTORY DEFINITION OF MENTAL ABUSE.

The Department acted outside its authority when it expanded the definition of mental abuse by defining "willful" to include no more than a purposeful, improper action and by including "negative outcome" as a type of harm under the statute. This definition is more expansive than, and inconsistent with, the statutory definition.

The consequences of a mental abuse finding are severe – permanent listing on a public registry and a lifetime bar from a huge range of employment. If an agency rule extends the punitive power of a statute, it is an invalid exercise of agency power. *Marcum v. Dept. of Soc. & Health Serv.*, 172 Wn. App. 546, 558, 290 P.3d 1045 (2012). The Department may not adopt rules in a manner that fundamentally changes the standard set out in the statute. *Brown v. Dep't. of Soc. & Health Serv.*, ____ Wn. App. ____, 360 P.3d 875 (2015).

RCW 74.34.020(2) defines "abuse," which includes mental abuse, of a vulnerable adult as:

"the willful action or inaction that inflicts injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment"

Subsection (c) describes the kind of behavior that can be "mental abuse", including "any willful action or inaction of mental or verbal abuse . . . [and] includes, but is not limited to, coercion, harassment, inappropriately isolating a vulnerable adult from family friends, or regular activity, and verbal assault that includes ridiculing, intimidating, yelling, or swearing." RCW 74.34.020(c) (2013). Both provisions must be read together. Thus, "mental abuse" has three specific elements: (1) willful action or inaction; (2) that constitutes mental abuse (i.e. verbal assault), and that (3) inflicts injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment on a vulnerable adult. RCW 74.34.020(2)(c). The definition of mental abuse cannot be read in isolation and must be read with the definition of abuse. To be mental abuse, there must be both the willful action to inflicting harm and actual injury, unreasonable confinement, abandonment, or punishment on the vulnerable adult. RCW 74.34.020(2)(c); Brown v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Serv., 145 Wn. App. 177, 183, 185 P.3d 1210 (2008).

In contrast to the statutory definition, the Department defined "willful" as "the nonaccidental action or inaction by an alleged

perpetrator that he/she knew or reasonably should have known could cause harm, injury or a negative outcome." WAC 388-71-0105. The Department exceeded its statutory authority by expanding the definition of mental abuse to include "nonaccidental action or inaction" the alleged perpetrator "knew or should have known" would cause "harm, injury, or a negative outcome." The Department's expanded definition includes actions that were not intended to inflict injury as well as a type of "harm" that was not intended to be punished.

1. Changing "willful" to "nonaccidental" changes the statutory definition of mental abuse and punishes actions not intended to injure.

The plain and ordinary meaning of willful is "said or done deliberately or intentionally." WEBSTER'S NEW WORLD DICTIONARY, 3rd Ed., p. 1528. Therefore, a finding of abuse can only be made when actions or inactions are done deliberately and intentionally to inflict injury. *Brown*, 145 Wn. App. at 183 (2003) (an abuse finding "requires willful action to inflict injury").

Defining "willful" as any nonaccidental action expands the definition to include actions that were purposeful but not intended to inflict injury. The statutory definition requires that the actions were

intended to inflict injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment. RCW 74.34.020(2).

2. Including "should have known" as part of the definition of "willful" fundamentally changes the statutory definition of mental abuse.

Including the phrase "should have known" in the regulatory definition of "willful" fundamentally changes the statutory definition of mental abuse by supplanting the statutory requirement that an act is a willful action to inflict injury and changes it to a negligence standard based on what the perpetrator "knew or should have known."

"Willful" requires more evidence than hindsight analysis. It requires an examination of the alleged perpetrator's intent at the time the words were said. *Brown*, 145 Wn. App. at 183 (2008). The action must have been intended to inflict injury. *Id.*

After the fact, it is easy to see the effect of one's actions. After the fact, it is easy to see how Ms. Crosswhite's attempt to bring attention to Jodi's health and behavior impacted Jodi. After the fact, and after it was known that Jodi had an abusive past that made it difficult to get over the situation, it is easier to see how Ms. Crosswhite's words impacted Jodi. CP 69. However, Ms. Crosswhite had only worked for Jodi for a month, and there is no

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