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

IV. ARGUMENT 

In this matter, the Department is due deference from this Court, 

both as to its findings of fact and in its interpretation of law. The 

Department validly exercised its discretion in enacting and following 

WAC 388-71-0105. The rule is consistent with the intent and terms of 

chapter 74.34 RCW. The Department properly applied WAC 388-71-

0105 and former RCW 74.34.020(2)(c) to Ms. Crosswhite's case, finding 

that she mentally abused Jodi because she yelled at her in a crowded 

doctor's office even after Jodi asked her to stop. The Department's order 

was also supported by substantial evidence—eye witness testimony at 

hearing on this matter established most of the facts that the Board based its 

findings on. Finally, Ms. Crosswhite is not entitled to attorney's fees. She 

should not prevail in her appeal and, in the event that she does prevail, the 

Department's finding against her was substantially justified. 

A. Standard of Review 

This is a petition for judicial review of a final agency order under 

RCW 34.05.570(3). The Court reviews only the final agency action, here 
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the Final Order issued by the Board on July 20, 2014. CP 4-14. There are 

limited grounds upon which an appellant can challenge a final agency 

order. RCW 34.05.570(3). Here, Ms. Crosswhite is challenging the Final 

Order on the grounds that the Department exceeded its statutory authority, 

erroneously interpreted the law and that a lack of substantial evidence 

supports the Board's findings. Petitioner's Opening Brief ("Opening 

Brief') at 2. It is the Petitioner's burden to prove these grounds. 

RCW 34.05.570(3). The Court can affirm the agency action on any theory 

adequately supported by the administrative record. Heidgerken v. Dep't of 

Nat. Res., 99 Wn. App. 380, 388, 993 P.2d 934 (2000). 

1. Ms. Crosswhite Has The Burden To Prove That The 
Department's Rule Conflicts With Legislative Intent 

Ms. Crosswhite's allegation that the Department exceeded its 

statutory authority rests on the argument that one of its rules, the definition 

of "willful" in WAC 388-71-0105, conflicts with former RCW 74.34.020. 

As the appellant, Ms. Crosswhite has the burden to prove the rule is 

invalid. RCW 34.05.570(1)(a); Ass'n of Wash. Bus. v. Dep't of Revenue, 

155 Wn.2d 430, 437, 120 P.3d 46 (2005). A court may declare an agency 

rule invalid if it: "(1) violates constitutional provisions; (2) exceeds 

statutory authority of the agency; (3) was adopted without compliance to 

statutory rule-making procedures; or (4) is arbitrary and capricious." 
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Wash. Pub. Ports Ass'n v. Dep't of Revenue, 148 Wn.2d 637, 645, 

62 P.3d 462 (2003). Where an interpretive rule is challenged, as here, the 

inquiry is not into the validity of the rule but its "correctness or 

propriety"—i.e., whether it conflicts with the legislative intent underlying 

the statute it interprets. Id. at 466; Hegwine v. Longview Fiber Co., Inc., 

162 Wn.2d 340, 349, 172 P.3d 688 (2007). 

2. This Court Should Give Discretion To The 
Department's Interpretation of RCW 74.34.020 

Questions of law are reviewed de novo, except that agency 

interpretations of law are given deference where the agency has expertise. 

City of Redmond v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 

136 Wn.2d 38, 46, 959 P.2d 1091 (1998). "Where an administrative 

agency is charged with administering a special field of law and endowed 

with quasi-judicial functions because of its expertise in that field, the 

agency's construction of statutory words and phrases and legislative intent 

should be accorded substantial weight when undergoing judicial review." 

Overton v. Econ. Assistance Auth., 96 Wn.2d 552, 555, 637 P.2d 652 

(1981). In this matter, the Department is due deference from the Court. 

The legislature has given the Department primary responsibility for 

protecting vulnerable adults. See Chapter 74.34 RCW. The Department 

has quasi-judicial functions in this capacity. See Chapter 388-71 WAC. 
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The Department is the expert on vulnerable adults, and how to protect 

them, and in that regard, should be given substantial deference in its 

interpretation of the law. See Goldsmith v. Dep't of Soc. and Health 

Servs., 169 Wn. App. 573, 584, 280 P.3d 1173 (2012). 

3. The Department Is Due Great Deference In Its 
Determinations Of Fact 

The substantial evidence standard is "highly deferential to the 

agency fact finder." Beatty v. Wash. Fish and Wildlife Comm'n, 185 Wn. 

App. 426, 449, 341 P.3d 291 (2015). On judicial review, the Court does 

not substitute its judgment for the agency as to the credibility of witnesses 

or the relative weight of conflicting evidence. Id. Rather, the court only 

grants relief if the agency's decision "is not supported by evidence that is 

substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court." 

RCW 34.05.570(3)(e). 

B. The Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act Is A Remedial Statute 
And Should Be Interpreted Liberally To Effect The Intent Of 
The Legislature 

Chapter 74.34 RCW is intended to protect vulnerable adults, 

sometimes against abuse and exploitation by people very closely related to 

them. Because it is a remedial statute, it should be liberally construed to 

ensure that the intent of the legislature is accomplished. 

N 
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The Washington legislature has determined that vulnerable adults 

"may be subjected to abuse, neglect, financial exploitation or 

abandonment by a family member, care provider, or other person who has 

a relationship with the vulnerable adult." RCW 74.34.005(1). The 

Department of Social and Health Services (Department) is required under 

the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act, chapter 74.34 RCW, to investigate 

such allegations to protect vulnerable adults. Id. In order to fulfill the 

government's "sacred duty" of protecting vulnerable people, the 

Department must prioritize the interests of vulnerable adults above those 

of even well-meaning caregivers. Bond v. Dept of Soc. & Health Servs., 

111 Wn. App. 566, 575, 45 P.3d 1087 (2002). 

"Vulnerable adult" is defined in former RCW 74.34.020(17). It is 

not contested that Jodi was a vulnerable adult at all times relevant here 

because she was receiving in-home care from an agency licensed to do so. 

The legislature has mandated that people with findings of abuse of 

a vulnerable adult have limited opportunities to work with this population. 

No provider, or its staff, or long-term care worker, or 
prospective provider or long-term care worker, with a 
stipulated finding of fact, conclusion of law, an agreed 
order, or finding of fact, conclusion of law, or final order 
issued by a disciplining authority or a court of law or 
entered into a state registry with a final substantiated 
finding of abuse, neglect, exploitation, or abandonment of a 
minor or a vulnerable adult as defined in chapter 74.34 

12 



RCW shall be employed in the care of and have 
unsupervised access to vulnerable adults. 

RCW 74.39A.056(2). 

Chapter 74.34 RCW is a remedial statute, meant to give special 

protections to a vulnerable population that cannot protect itself. See 

RCW 74.34.005. The chapter is replete with evidence of this legislative 

intent. See, e.g., RCW 74.34.035 (caregivers and others are mandatory 

reporters of suspected abuse); see also RCW 74.34.180 (whistleblowers 

protected from retaliation for good faith reports of abuse); see also 

RCW 74.34.200 (vulnerable adults have cause of action to collect 

damages for abuse). Chapter 74.34 RCW should be construed liberally to 

give effect to the stated legislative intent. See Naches Valley Sch. Dist. 

No. JT3 v. Cruzen, 54 Wn. App. 388, 399, 775 P.2d 960 (1989) (remedial 

statutes to be construed liberally to give effect to the intent of the 

legislature). 

C. WAC 388-71-0105 Is A Lawful Exercise Of The Department's 
Legislative Authority Under The Plain Meaning Of The 
Statute, The Case Law Of Abuse Of Vulnerable Adults And 
Analogous Law On The Word "Willful" 

The Department found that Ms. Crosswhite mentally abused Jodi 

because her words were not accidents and she had every reason to know 

that by berating Jodi in a crowded doctor's office Jodi would be 
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humiliated, particularly where Ms. Crosswhite refused to stop despite 

repeated and tearful requests by Jodi. Ms. Crosswhite erroneously 

contends that in order to meet the definition of "mental abuse" she must 

have specifically intended to harm Jodi and, she argues, because she was 

ultimately concerned for Jodi's health, the ends justified the means. 

Former RCW 74.34.020 defines "abuse" and "mental abuse" as: 

"Abuse" means the willful action or inaction that inflicts 
injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or 
punishment on a vulnerable adult. In instances of abuse of 
a vulnerable adult who is unable to express or demonstrate 
physical harm, pain, or mental anguish, the abuse is 
presumed to cause physical harm, pain, or mental anguish. 
Abuse includes . . . mental abuse . . . which [has] the 
following meaning:[] 

"Mental abuse" means any willful action or inaction of 
mental or verbal abuse. Mental abuse includes, but is not 
limited to, coercion, harassment, inappropriately isolating a 
vulnerable adult from family, friends or regular activity, 
and verbal assault that includes ridiculing, intimidating, 
yelling or swearing. 

The Department has exercised its legislative authority to define 

"willful" as "the nonaccidental action or inaction by an alleged perpetrator 

that he/she knew or reasonably should have known could cause harm, 

injury or a negative outcome." WAC 388-71-0105; see RCW 74.08.090 

(The Department has specific statutory authority to make rules and 

regulations "not inconsistent with the provisions of [Title 74 RCW]"). 
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This was the definition used to find that Ms. Crosswhite mentally abused 

Jodi. CP at 13. This definition is a legitimate exercise of the 

Department's legislatively granted authority and is consistent with the 

intent of chapter 74.34 RCW. 

1. "Willful" As Used In Former RCW 74.34.020(2) 
Requires That The Action Which Inflicts Injury Be 
Nonaccidental, But Does Not Require Specific Intent To 
Injure 

Former RCW 74.34.020 defines abuse as "the willful action or 

inaction that inflicts injury" it does not require "the willful action to inflict 

injury." See Former RCW 74.34.020 (emphasis added). The plain 

language here says that the action must be willful, but the consequence of 

that action—namely the infliction of injury—need not be. This is exactly 

what WAC 388-71-0105 requires by defining "willful" as a 

"nonaccidental action." 

WAC 388-71-0105 is also consistent with the ordinary dictionary 

definition of the word "willful." Dictionary definitions of "willful" 

include "done deliberately: not accidental or without purpose." Eg., 

Webster's Third New International Dictionary 2617 (Merriam-Webster 

2002). 

The statutory scheme would fall into disarray if specific intent to 

cause harm were required for abuse. For instance, sexual abuse includes 
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sexual contact between a vulnerable adult and a caregiver even if that 

sexual contact is consensual. Former RCW 74.34.020(2)(a). If 

willfulness requires a specific intent to injure, then caregivers who 

sexually exploit vulnerable adults have a defense whenever they believe 

the sex was desired by both parties. As another example, physical abuse 

requires a "willful action of inflicting bodily injury" and includes 

"slapping." Former RCW 74.34.020(2)(b). If Ms. Crosswhite's 

interpretation of willfulness is correct, then a caregiver could slap a 

vulnerable as a kind of aversive therapy (to get the vulnerable adult to stop 

smoking for instance) so long as the caregiver believed that, ultimately, it 

was in the vulnerable adult's best interest. 

Case law also establishes that motivation is irrelevant in a case of 

mental abuse under Chapter 74.34 RCW. Goldsmith, 169 Wn. App.at 

586. In Goldsmith, a son had repeated and contentious verbal arguments 

with his father about his father's estate, and the court upheld a Department 

finding of mental abuse. Id. at 578, 587. The court held that the son 

"knew or should have known" that these fights caused his father 

"considerable stress." Id. at 585. In response to the son's defense that the 

son was his father's financial advisor and only intended to protect his 

father's estate, the court found that the son's status as financial advisor 
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was "irrelevant." Id. at 586 (citing Brown v. Dep't of Social and 

HealthSrvcs., 145 Wn.' App. 177, 183, 185 P.3d 1210 (2008)). 

"Regardless of his motives, Goldsmith's conduct was improper, and the 

Board did not err in concluding it constituted mental abuse." Id. 

The Brown case, which held that a caregiver did not commit 

physical abuse when she prevented a vulnerable adult's violent attack, did 

not hold that specific intent to cause harm is necessary for a finding of 

abuse. First, Goldsmith actually cited Brown in holding that specific 

intent was not required for a finding of mental abuse. Goldsmith, 

169 Wn. App. at 586. Second the Brown court was primarily concerned 

with what behavior would constitute physical abuse in situations with 

exigent circumstances. See Brown 145 Wn. App. at 181. That is, in 

Brown the court found that the conduct was not "improper" because the 

caregiver "intervened in the presence of danger," and her protective 

actions were proportional to that danger. Brown, 145 Wn. App. at 183. 

The court explained that even in the context of such an intervention, 

conduct can be improper—i.e., would constitute abuse—if it was 

"injurious or ill-intended." See id. Brown did not hold that specific intent 

to cause harm is necessary for a finding of abuse of a vulnerable adult. 

Instead, during its analysis the Brown court paraphrased the language of 
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the statute, writing, "Both the definition of `abuse' and `physical abuse' 

require a willful action to inflict injury." Id. However, the statute actually 

reads, "'[a]buse' means the willful action or inaction that inflicts injury . . 

" and "' [p]hysical abuse' means the willful action of inflicting bodily 

injury or physical mistreatment." Former RCW 74.34.020(2) (emphasis 

added). The Brown court's paraphrase of the statutory language was not 

necessary to its holding. Brown cannot be reasonably read to conflict with 

the subsequent Goldsmith holding that a specific intent to injure is not 

required by the definition of abuse. 

Defining "willful" as "nonaccidental" is also consistent with long-

standing Washington case law construing the word "willful" in other 

contexts. In State v. Oyen, 78 Wn.2d 909, 917, 480 P.2d 766 (1971), the 

Washington State Supreme Court interpreted the word "willful" to mean 

"an act committed intentionally, deliberately and/or designedly as 

distinguished from one done accidently, inadvertently, innocently and/or 

with lawful excuse" within the context of an anti-loitering statute. In the 

context of interpreting an insurance policy, the court in Hall v. State Farm 

Fire & Cas. Co., 109 Wn. App. 614, 36 P.3d 582 (2001), interpreted the 

word "willful" to "apply to some unintended and accidental injuries." The 

/// 
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Washington State Supreme Court also interpreted the word "wilful"4  in the 

context of a penal prohibition on the failure to provide child support, 

holding that the word meant "knowing conduct and lack of excuse." State 

v. Bauer, 92 Wn.2d 162, 168, 595 P.2d 544 (1979). 

The plain meaning of the statute, dictionary definitions, case law 

interpreting former RCW 74.34.020(2) and case law in other areas 

construing the word "willful" all point to the conclusion that "willful" 

means "nonaccidental action." The Department's rule implementing this 

definition does not exceed its legislative authority. 

2. Willful Conduct Includes Conduct That A Reasonable 
Person Would Know Could Cause Injury 

Chapter 74.34 RCW forbids conduct that a reasonable person 

would know could cause harm to a vulnerable adult. Former 

RCW 74.34.020(2) forbids conduct that causes "injury, unreasonable 

confinement, intimidation or punishment on a vulnerable adult." In cases 

where a vulnerable adult is unable to express these negative outcomes, the 

statute presumes them. Former RCW 74.34.020(2). The statute forbids 

conduct that could cause injury to a vulnerable adult even in the absence 

of any objective signs of such injury. The only way to accomplish that 

4  Presumably, this spelling is an anachronism. 
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legislative intent is to forbid conduct that a reasonable person would know 

could cause injury. WAC 388-71-0105 does exactly that. 

The Goldsmith court already held that WAC 388-71-0105's "know 

or should have known" component is in accord with former 

RCW 74.34.020(2). The court there held that a non-accidental action 

which the alleged abuser "knew or should have known" would cause a 

vulnerable adult mental injury satisfied the definition of mental abuse in 

former RCW 74.34.020(2)(c). Goldsmith, 169 Wn. App. at 585. 

Criminal law also holds a defendant charged with willful conduct

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